In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re

WILLIAM M. PALMER II,
On Habeas Corpus.

Case No. S256149

SUPREME COURT FILED

First Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. A154269

OCT 3 1 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Deputy

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS
Chief Assistant Attorney General
PHILLIP J. LINDSAY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
*AMANDA J. MURRAY
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 223829
600 West Broadway, Suite 1800
San Diego, CA 92101
P.O. Box 85266
San Diego, CA 92186-5266
Telephone: (619) 738-9084
Fax: (619) 645-2044

Email: Amanda.Murray@doj.ca.gov
Attorneys for Petitioner Board of

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Did this life prisoner's continued confinement become constitutionally disproportionate under article I, section 17 of the California Constitution and/or the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution?
- (2) If this life prisoner's continued confinement became constitutionally disproportionate, what is the proper remedy?

INTRODUCTION

William Palmer's life sentence with the possibility of parole and resulting incarceration for kidnapping for robbery neither shocks the conscience nor offends fundamental notions of human dignity. The court below held otherwise, and concluded that Palmer was not only entitled to be released from prison after serving 29 years on his life sentence, but also entitled to be relieved of his five-year parole period. But in granting Palmer relief, the Court of Appeal departed from this Court's jurisprudence governing cruel or unusual punishment claims. That jurisprudence requires courts to afford great deference to the legislatively imposed penalty for the crime—here, life in prison with the possibility of parole—as part of the constitutional analysis.

The court below concluded that no deference was owed. It reasoned that Palmer, who brought his claim after the Board of Parole Hearings denied him parole numerous times, did not challenge his indeterminate sentence, a claim the court acknowledged would have required deference to the Legislature. Rather, Palmer challenged the actual number of years he served in prison. According to the Court of Appeal, this was a distinction with a difference because the actual number of years served was a function of the Board's parole decisions. In this scenario, deference to the legislatively prescribed penalty was no longer warranted.

The appellate court's treatment of Palmer's claim as different from a claim challenging the indeterminate life sentence is unsupported by the law. While this Court has held that a life inmate may petition for habeas corpus relief if he believes his incarceration has become disproportionate to his individual culpability for the crime, nothing in this Court's jurisprudence suggests that the cruel or unusual analysis is different merely because the inmate brings his claim decades into his sentence and after he is denied parole. Indeed, the court's rationale for carving out a new legal standard that the Board, and not the Legislature, determines a life inmate's term through its parole suitability function—is unpersuasive. This Court held long ago that the cruel or unusual punishment analysis measures the inmate's individual culpability against the sentence's maximum term not some lesser term fixed by the parole authority. This guiding principle recognizes that an inmate's sentence does not become constitutionally disproportionate based on the actual number of years an inmate has served. The life-maximum term is either constitutional or not when it is imposed. The Court of Appeal here applied an erroneous legal standard under state law by failing to defer to the legislatively proscribed maximum punishment for kidnapping for robbery—life with the possibility of parole. And although giving deference to the Legislature does not mean all sentences are constitutionally immune, the court below gave no deference and its disproportionality findings as to Palmer's sentence were wrong.

Similarly, the Court of Appeal misconstrued Palmer's claim as being cognizable under the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution when it is not. Neither the court below nor Palmer cited any federal authority enabling an inmate to bring a federal disproportionality claim based on the actual number of years served in prison following a parole denial. Even if such a claim exists, the Court of Appeal wrongly found

Palmer's sentence cruel and unusual under federal law. The court's judgment should be reversed.

If, after affording proper deference to the Legislature, Palmer served a period of incarceration in excess of constitutional limits, he was not, on this record, entitled to the elimination of his parole period. This Court has held that, in the absence of statutory authority, a court violates separation of powers when it shortens an inmate's parole period by crediting an excess period of incarceration against the inmate's parole period—even when the excess confinement is caused by unconstitutional state action. This is so because such a remedy materially defeats the executive branch's authority to decide the length and conditions of an inmate's statutorily required parole period. The Legislature and this Court have acknowledged that the executive branch's obligation to supervise inmates released from prison is an important aspect of reintegrating them into society and protecting the public—two considerations that are particularly important for Palmer, who was in prison for most of his life.

Here, neither Palmer nor the Court of Appeal pointed to any statute authorizing credit against Palmer's parole term. And while separation of powers does not prohibit a court from determining that a legislatively mandated parole period itself constitutes cruel or unusual punishment, Palmer did not make this claim and the Court of Appeal did not find such a violation. Thus, based on the circumstances in this case, the court below erred by eliminating Palmer's parole period. Indeed, because Palmer did not raise this claim and had already been released from prison at the time the appellate court granted relief, his petition had become moot and it should have been dismissed accordingly. The Court of Appeal's judgment should be reversed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND THE CASE

I. PALMER'S CRIME, CONVICTION, AND SENTENCE

In 1988, when Palmer was 17 years old, he kidnapped Randy Compton, an off-duty police officer, for the purpose of robbery. (Opn. at pp. 1, 8-9; See generally May 11, 2018 Petn. (Habeas Petn.), Exh. A.) Donning a ski mask, Palmer entered a secured, underground parking garage and waited for someone to kidnap and rob. (Opn. at p. 8; Habeas Petn., Exh. A at pp. 7-8, 12, Exh. G at p. 38.)

Compton was walking toward the driver's side of his truck when Palmer approached him from behind. (Opn. at p. 8; Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 8.) Palmer brandished a gun that he had stolen during a previous robbery; Compton was unaware that it was unloaded. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 8, Exh. U at p. 123; Opn. at pp. 10, 21.) Palmer ordered Compton to "Put up your hands" and to get into the truck. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 8.) Palmer sat in the backseat and said, "Let's drive." (*Id.* at p. 9.) Compton complied and Palmer ordered him where to go—keeping the gun pointed at Compton the entire time. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 9.)

While driving, Palmer asked Compton family-related questions—such as whether he was married and had kids—that made Compton fear for his life. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 9, Exh. G at p. 38.) Palmer also asked Compton about money, including where he banked and whether he had an ATM card. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at pp. 9, 12.) Compton said he did and told Palmer that he could withdraw \$200. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at pp. 9, 12.) The men then drove to the bank. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at pp. 10, 12.) Once there, Palmer ordered Compton to roll down the passenger-side window, leave the engine running, and withdraw the money. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 10.) He also told Compton, in effect, to "come right back." (*Ibid.*)

As Compton was getting out of the truck, he reached over surreptitiously to the passenger-side floorboard to pick up a backpack that contained his service weapon, police badge, and identification card. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 10.) Palmer, with the gun still pointed at Compton, became nervous and asked, "what's that?" and to "give it here." (*Ibid.*) Compton told Palmer that his wallet, with the ATM card, was in the backpack. (*Ibid.*) Palmer continued to point the gun at Compton, telling him to "Stop" and to "Give it to me." (*Ibid.*)

Compton was able to get his service weapon and began shooting at Palmer. (Opn. at p. 9; Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 10.) When Compton ran out of ammunition, he ran into the dark to hide. (Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 10.) Palmer, hit by a bullet in the knee, got out of the truck and ran away. (Opn. at p. 9; Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 10, Exh. M at p. 63.) The police later apprehended him. (Opn. at p. 9; Habeas Petn., Exh. A at p. 11.)

Palmer pleaded guilty to a violation of Penal Code section 209, subdivision (b), kidnapping for the purpose of robbery, and admitted to the special allegation of the use of a firearm, pursuant to Penal Code section 12022.5, and 1192.7, subdivision (c), subsection (8). (Habeas Petn., Exh. D at p. 26.) He was sentenced to life with the possibility of parole for the kidnapping for the purpose of robbery conviction, and a consecutive two-year sentence for the firearm enhancement. (*Id.*, Exh. H at p. 47; see also *id.*, Exh. D at p. 28.)

II. PALMER'S 2015 PAROLE DENIAL AND COURT-ORDERED RELEASE

Because Palmer was sentenced to an indeterminate life term of imprisonment, he was entitled to a parole consideration hearing when he became eligible for parole in 1995. (Pen. Code, §§ 3041, 3046, subd. (a)(1); Sept. 25, 2018 Return (Return), Exh. 6 at pp. 86-87 [Palmer's parole hearing history from 1995 to 2015]; Habeas Petn., Exh. I at pp. 51-52.) In

California, parole determinations are made by the Board of Parole Hearings, an arm of the executive branch. Its 17 commissioners are appointed by the Governor with the consent of the Senate. (Pen. Code, § 5075, subd. (b)(1).) The Board also employs numerous deputy commissioners, who are appointed under the civil service system and assist with discharging the Board's statutory obligations. (*Id.* at §§ 5075.6, 5076.1, subd. (b); California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation, Board of Parole Hearings, Deputy Commissioners https://www.cdcr.ca.gov/bph/deputy-commissioners/> [as of Oct. 28, 2019].) The Board is required, by statute, to determine parole suitability of parole eligible offenders, conduct hearings for mentally disordered offenders and sexually violent predators, and investigate requests for pardons, reprieves, and commutations of sentences, among other duties. (Pen. Code, § 5057.1.)

The Board provided Palmer with his first parole consideration hearing in 1995 and regularly reviewed him for parole. (Pen. Code, §§ 3041, 3046; Return, Exh. 6 at pp. 86-87.) In June 2015, at Palmer's tenth parole consideration hearing, the Board again denied him parole, finding that he posed a current risk to public safety, in part, based on two recent disciplinary violations—one for misuse of handcrafter material and one for possession of a cell phone. (Habeas Petn., Exh. W at pp. 141-150; Return, Exhs. 2-4, Exh. 6 at pp. 86-87.)

Palmer successfully challenged the Board's decision in the Court of Appeal based on the claim that the Board violated the terms of a settlement agreement entered in *In re Butler*¹—a case that was pending review in this

¹ The settlement agreement required the Board to calculate base and adjusted base terms at a life-term inmate's initial parole suitability hearing. (*In re Butler* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 728, 732 (*Butler*).) At the time, base terms represented the earliest possible release date for inmates serving life sentences and were statutorily required. (*Ibid.*) Following the settlement (continued...)

Court at the time. (Habeas Petn., Exhs. Z, AA, BB, EE-HH.) The Board sought review and this Court granted the petition pending disposition of *Butler*. Palmer's case was ultimately remanded to the Court of Appeal for reconsideration in light of the *Butler* opinion. (*In re Palmer*, Case No. S244139.)

On remand, Palmer argued that he was entitled to relief because the Board failed to give "great weight" to the statutorily required youth offender factors.² The Court of Appeal granted his petition and ordered the Board to provide him with a new hearing. (See *In re Palmer*, Case No. S252145; Mar. 14, 2019 Letter Brief, Exh. 2.) Again, this Court granted the Board's petition for review, and that case is currently pending. (*In re William Palmer*, Case No. S252145.)

On December 6, 2018, the Board held the court-ordered hearing and granted Palmer parole. (Mar. 14, 2019 Letter Brief, Exh. 2.) He was released from prison on March 11, 2019, after serving approximately 29 years and six months on his life sentence. (*Id.* at Exh. 1; Habeas Petn., Exh. X at p. 152 [showing life-term start date of August 22, 1989]; see also Habeas Petn. Exh. I at pp. 51-52 [two-year consecutive term for firearm enhancement served before life term].) He was released to a five-year parole period under former Penal Code section 3000, subdivision (b) (1988). (See also Cal. Code Regs., tit. 15, § 2515, subd. (d).)

^{(...}continued)

agreement, the Legislature dispensed with the statutory base-term requirement and this Court relieved the Board of its obligation to calculate them. (*Ibid.*)

² Penal Code section 3051 outlines the timing for youth offender hearings and Penal Code section 4801, subdivision (c) requires that the Board give great weight to certain youthful characteristics during those hearings.

Palmer has violated his parole conditions three times. (Request for Jud. Notice, Exhs. Aa-Dd.) In June 2019, Palmer verbally admitted to several parole violations, such as loitering where minors congregate, having contact with a minor and failing to tell his parole agent about it, and intentionally missing rehabilitation appointments. (*Id.*, Exh. Aa.) In July 2019, Palmer violated parole again for failing to complete a substance abuse program, illegally recording a conversation with his parole agent, loitering within 250 feet of a place where children gather, using a concealed device to record a person's body and undergarments in violation of Penal Code section 647, subdivision (j)(2), and making sexual comments on the video. (*Id.*, Exh. Bb; see also Mar. 21, 2019, Letter Brief, Exh. 1.) For these violations, he was verbally reprimanded and continued on parole. (Request for Jud. Notice, Exh. Aa at pp. 4, 6, Exh. Bb at pp. 3, 5.)

Finally, in September 2019, Palmer absconded from parole for two days. (Request for Jud. Notice, Exh. Cc.) For this violation, his parole agent filed a petition to revoke and Palmer was released to San Francisco County Superior Court's parole revocation court for more intense parole supervision. (*Id.* at Exhs. Dd-Ee; see also The Superior Court of California, County of San Francisco,

 [as of Oct. 28, 2019].)

III. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S DISPROPORTIONALITY RULING

Before the Court of Appeal's "great weight" decision, Palmer filed another habeas petition, arguing that his incarceration was grossly disproportionate to his kidnap-for-robbery conviction, in violation of article I, section 17 of the California Constitution and the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution. (Habeas Petn.) He requested discharge from actual and constructive custody. (*Id.* at p. 51.)

The Court of Appeal granted Palmer's petition. (See generally Opn.) Although Palmer had already been released from prison, the court rejected the Board's argument that the petition was moot. (*Id.* at p. 3.) The court concluded that because Palmer was in constructive custody while on parole, the State continued to constrain his liberty and judicial relief remained available—discharge from parole. (*Ibid.*)

As to the merits, the court reasoned the "serial denials of parole Palmer experienced [by the Board] resulted in punishment so disproportionate to his individual culpability for the offense he committed, that it must be deemed constitutionally excessive." (Opn. at p. 1.) The court explained that Palmer was not challenging "the indeterminate life term to which he was sentenced but the actual term of years he was required to serve." (*Id.* at p. 5.) This latter claim, the court opined, was not based on the Legislature's sentence determination, but rather the result of the Board's decision to grant or deny parole. (*Id.* at pp. 5-6.) According to the court, "[i]n this sort of challenge, deference to the legislatively proscribed penalty is no longer a relevant factor, as the *actual* term of years served is a function of the Board's parole decisions, not the Legislature's determination of the appropriate penalty in this particular case." (Opn. at pp. 6-7, fn. omitted.)

The court then decided Palmer's continued incarceration had become constitutionally excessive based on the three factors this Court outlined in *In re Lynch* (1972) 8 Cal.3d 410, 425. As to the first factor, the nature of the offender and offense, the court concluded Palmer was less culpable because the kidnapping was a spur-of-the-moment decision, it was short in duration, he intentionally used an unloaded weapon, and that no one but Palmer was injured. (Opn. at pp. 8-17.) In addition, the court found that Palmer's age at the time of the crime—and his age during his

previous criminal activity—was highly relevant in reducing Palmer's culpability for the crime. (*Id.* at pp. 10-17.)

As to the second *Lynch* factor, an intrastate comparison of the punishment for more serious crimes, the court reasoned that Palmer's incarceration "greatly exceed[ed]" the maximum for other more serious offenses in California. (Opn. at p. 22.) The court distinguished *In re Maston* (1973) 33 Cal.App.3d 559, which held that life without the possibility of parole for kidnapping for robbery or ransom with bodily injury was constitutional. (Opn. at pp. 20-22.) The court disagreed with *Maston's* intrastate comparison of punishments because *Maston* looked to the defendant's maximum sentence, not the actual number of years served, as Palmer claimed. (*Ibid.*) Moreover, the court opined that the *Maston* comparison was inapposite given the mitigating factors in Palmer's case—such as the unloaded gun, the spontaneity of the kidnapping, and Palmer's youth—not present in *Matson*. (*Id.* at pp. 21-22.)

Regarding *Lynch*'s third factor, the court found this factor, an interstate comparison of punishment for kidnap for robbery in other jurisdictions, was the least useful because "it is so difficult to determine what sentence a like crime—considering all circumstances related to the offense and offender—would receive in other jurisdictions." (Opn.at p. 23.) The court also acknowledged that even if California's punishment is harsh, that does not mean it is constitutionally excessive. (*Ibid.*) Even so, the court thought that other states contemplate terms shorter than Palmer's for his kidnap-for-robbery conviction, even without considering Palmer's youth at the time of the crime. (*Id.* at pp. 24-25.)

For the same reasons, the court also decided that Palmer's incarceration "would yield the same conclusions under the federal Constitution." (Opn. at p. 26.)

Finally, the court concluded that because Palmer "was serving a sentence that had become constitutionally excessive," and thus, was unlawful (opn. at p. 29), he was "entitled to be freed from all custody, actual or constructive," including parole supervision (*ibid.*, citing *In re Wells* (1975) 46 Cal.App.3d 592, 604).

On July 31, 2019, this Court granted review on its own motion.

ARGUMENT

I. PALMER'S SENTENCE WAS NOT CRUEL OR UNUSUAL UNDER STATE OR FEDERAL LAW

Palmer's sentence, and his resulting incarceration, did not violate the constitutional prohibition against cruel or unusual punishment under the state and federal Constitutions. His sentence of life with the possibility of parole for kidnapping for the purpose of robbery was constitutional when imposed and remained so throughout his incarceration. In holding otherwise, the Court of Appeal failed to defer to the Legislature's judgment, and it misapplied the *Lynch* factors.

A. The Court of Appeal Applied the Wrong Legal Standard to Palmer's Claim

Although the Court of Appeal correctly noted that Palmer challenged the length of time he had spent in prison for his crime as unconstitutional, it erred in concluding it did not owe deference to the Legislature's unique authority to prescribe punishment. (Opn. at pp. 5-6.) The court acknowledged that when a defendant challenges the imposition of a sentence as constitutionally excessive, "[t]he judicial inquiry commences with great deference to the Legislature." (Opn. at p. 5, citing *Harmelin v. Michigan* (1991) 501 U.S. 957, 998 (conc. opn. of Kennedy, J.) and *People v. Dillon* (1983) 34 Cal.3d. 441, 477.) But the court noted that "Palmer presents a different question, as he challenges not the indeterminate life term to which he was sentenced but the actual term of years he was

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