No. S256149

SUPREME COURT FILED

JAN 0 2 2020

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

IN THE **SUPREME COURT** OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

IN RE WILLIAM M. PALMER, ON HABEAS CORPUS

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FIRST APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO CASE No. A154269

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GEOFFREY H. YOST (S.B. #159687) GYOST@OMM.COM ANNA PLETCHER (S.B. #239730) APLETCHER@OMM.COM MELODY DRUMMOND HANSEN (S.B. #278786) MDRUMMONDHANSEN@OMM.COM *MEGAN HAVSTAD (S.B. #287938) MHAVSTAD@OMM.COM

MICHAEL J. PIERCE (S.B. #309102) MPIERCE@OMM.COM ANNA SCHNEIDER (S.B. #324105) ASCHNEIDER@OMM.COM MEHWISH SHAUKAT (S.B. #326443) MSHAUKAT@OMM.COM

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

B. Mr. Palmer's Continued Confinement Is Constitutionally Disproportionate Under the Eighth Amendment

The United States Constitution is no less tolerant of Mr. Palmer's grossly disproportionate punishment than the California Constitution. The question under both constitutions is whether his continued confinement has become "grossly disproportionate" to his specific crime or his individual culpability; the factors relevant to the answer are essentially the same.

Compare Solem, 463 U.S. at 288, 290-92 with Lynch, 8 Cal. 3d at 425, 431, 436. The Court of Appeal correctly concluded that its analysis under the California Constitution "would yield the same conclusions under the federal Constitution." In re Palmer, 33 Cal. App. 5th at 1221 (2019).

The Attorney General contends that the federal claim fails because of a lack of federal authority and for the same reasons that the California claim fails. (*See* OBM at 37-38.) The Court should reject these contentions. First, the analysis relevant to Mr. Palmer's federal claim is identical to California's for all purposes here. Second, the federal cases on which the Attorney General relies do not support denying relief because none consider proportionate sentences for juvenile offenders. Finally, that no court has yet granted an Eighth Amendment claim based on the term of years served means only that this is a novel question, not that Mr. Palmer's claim must be denied.

1. The U.S. Constitution Prohibits Mr. Palmer's Grossly Disproportionate Punishment

Binding federal and state law interpreting the two constitutional provisions at issue rely on the same analysis and the same factors to answer the same question—is the punishment grossly disproportionate to the specific crime and/or the individual offender? *See Solem*, 463 U.S. at 288 (summarizing test for proportionality); *Mendez*, 188 Cal. App. 4th at 64. When assessing the first federal factor—the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty—a court evaluating a federal claim should consider, as under California law, the nature of the individual offender, including his "mental state and motive in committing the crime, the actual harm caused to his victim or to society by his conduct, and any prior criminal history." *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 88; *Lynch*, 8 Cal. 3d at 425. The analyses under the second and third factors are also substantively the same. *See Solem*, 463 U.S. at 291-292; *Harmelin v. Michigan*, 501 U.S. 957, 1005 (1991); *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 60; *Lynch*, 8 Cal. 3d at 431, 436.¹⁸

In Mr. Palmer's case, applying the same analysis yields the same result. The Attorney General does not disagree that both constitutions prohibit a punishment that is "grossly disproportionate" or that the analysis is fundamentally the same. (OBM at 37-38.) And the Attorney General provides no principled reason that a sentence that shocks the conscience under California's Constitution would not shock the conscience under the United States Constitution.

¹⁸ The sole difference is that the first factor is a "threshold inquiry" under the federal constitution, whereas all three factors are independently valid under the California constitution. *Dillon*, 34 Cal. 3d at 487 n.38. This difference is not relevant here.

2. Federal Precedent Does Not Bar Mr. Palmer's Claim

The federal cases on which the Attorney General relies do not support denying relief because none consider proportionate sentences for juveniles. In recent decades, the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly explained that juveniles are "constitutionally different." Miller, 567 U.S. at 471. This difference controls the application of constitutional protections for juveniles. See, e.g., Thompson, 487 U.S. at 835 (plurality opinion); Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 569 (2005); Graham, 560 U.S. at 68; Miller, 567 U.S. at 473-74. The diminished culpability of juveniles is based on three key differences between them and adults: (i) juveniles are defined by "a lack of maturity and undeveloped sense of responsibility" that leads to "recklessness, impulsivity, and heedless risk-tasking," Miller, 567 U.S. at 471 (internal quotations omitted); (ii) juveniles are more susceptible to external pressures—"from their family or peers"—and "have limited control over their own environment" and therefore "lack the ability to extricate themselves from horrific, crime-producing settings," id.; and (iii) a juvenile's character is less fixed and therefore "less likely to be evidence of irretrievable depravity." *Id.* Each of these key differences is relevant to the federal analysis.

The constitutional significance of youth applies equally to the Eighth Amendment proportionality inquiry and California's equivalent. *See Graham*, 560 U.S. at 91-92 (Roberts, C.J., concurring). In his *Graham* concurrence, Chief Justice Roberts concluded that the sentence was unconstitutionally excessive. *Id.* at 91-94. Justice Roberts found that the petitioner's personal culpability was greatly reduced because he "committed the relevant offenses when he was a juvenile—a stage at which, *Roper* emphasized, one's culpability or blameworthiness is diminished, to a substantial degree, by reason of youth and immaturity."

Id. at 91. Justice Roberts explicitly distinguished *Rummel*, *Harmelin*, and *Ewing* on the ground that they evaluated adult punishments, and thus have little value when evaluating a juvenile's punishment, as a juvenile is "in a significantly different category." *Id.* at 90.

Because they are adult cases, the Attorney General cannot rely on *Harmelin v. Michigan, Hutto v. Davis*, and *Rummel v. Estelle* here either. (*See* OBM at 38.) None of the cases consider punishments imposed on juveniles, and all three were decided before the Supreme Court ruled on the constitutionally diminished culpability of juveniles. *See Harmelin*, 501 U.S. at 961, 994-95; *Hutto v. Davis*, 454 U.S. 370, 371-72 (1982); *Rummel v. Estelle*, 445 U.S. 263, 272 (1980). In *Harmelin*, the Supreme Court upheld a sentence imposed on an adult that has since been ruled unconstitutional if imposed on a juvenile. 501 U.S. at 960 (sentence of life without parole for possession of more than 650 grams of cocaine upheld); *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 82 (sentence of life without parole categorically unconstitutional for juvenile non-homicides).

3. Federal Precedent Supports Mr. Palmer's Claim

The Attorney General provides no principled reason Mr. Palmer's Eighth Amendment claim should fail because it was brought three decades into his punishment, rather than at the time his sentence was imposed. Adopting this position would be particularly unfair to Mr. Palmer: if Mr. Palmer had brought his challenge in 1988, he would not have known that he would actually be punished for more than 30 years. In fact, based on representations made by the prosecutor at the time of his plea, he understood he would be released after eight or nine years. (*See* Pet'n at 19 n.6.) And, as the Court of Appeal correctly remarked, it would be "absurd and unjust" to bar a challenge to a punishment as unconstitutionally excessive "on the basis that it was brought *too late into his confinement*." *In re Palmer*, 33 Cal. App. 5th at 1204 (2019) (internal quotation marks

omitted). Contrary to the Attorney General's claim otherwise, it is irrelevant that no federal case has yet granted an Eighth Amendment claim based on the actual term of years served. The Attorney General cites no case that has rejected such a claim, meaning only that this is a novel question, not that the claim must be rejected. (*See* OBM at 37); *cf. Roper*, 543 U.S. at 559-60 (affirming prohibition on juvenile executions first articulated by Missouri court).

The Court should consider the issue in light of recent jurisprudence. Modern "standards of decency" apply when deciding whether the continued punishment of Mr. Palmer is grossly disproportionate to his culpability for the reckless but physically injury-free crime he committed as a 17-year-old. See Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958) (Eighth Amendment "is not static"; it "must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency"); Weems v. United States, 217 U.S. 349, 378 (1910) (the standards embodied in the Eighth Amendment evolve "as public opinion becomes enlightened by a humane justice"). Since Mr. Palmer was first incarcerated, the United States Supreme Court has enforced increasingly robust protections for juveniles in the criminal system. See, e.g., Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005); Graham, 560 U.S. at 68; Miller, 567 U.S. at 473-74. These cases require recognizing the diminished culpability of juveniles—including those like Mr. Palmer who were sentenced indeterminately before their diminished culpability was recognized—under the federal proportionality framework.

C. The Court of Appeal Applied the Correct Legal Standard to Mr. Palmer's Claims

The Attorney General contends that the Court of Appeal "applied the wrong legal standard" and its decision offends the notion of a separation of powers, but the opposite is true: the decision exemplifies the success of the separation of powers principle. (*See* OBM at 19-24.) The Court of Appeal

acted squarely within its judicial function when it determined that Mr. Palmer's continuing punishment is unconstitutionally excessive.

The judiciary is the sole authority for determining whether punishments are disproportionate under the California and United States constitutions. The judiciary—as the ultimate safeguard of "the politically weak and underrepresented"—enforces constitutional limits on legislatively sanctioned behavior. *Bixby v. Pierno*, 4 Cal. 3d 130, 143 (1971); *Lynch*, 8 Cal. 3d at 415 ("[J]udicial review assures a government under the laws."); *Dillon*, 34 Cal. 3d at 478 (determining whether the legislature's punishment "exceeds constitutional limits is a judicial function"). Thus, legislative authority "remains ultimately circumscribed" by the courts' constitutional review. *Dillon*, 34 Cal. 3d at 477. The judiciary's power to define the boundaries of constitutional punishment applies to both legislatively sanctioned life sentences, *see Butler*, 4 Cal. 5th at 744 ("an inmate sentenced to an indeterminate term cannot be held for a period grossly disproportionate to his or her individual culpability"), and the Board's parole determinations, *see In re Wells*, 46 Cal. App. 3d 592, 604 (1975).

The Court of Appeal correctly stated the role of the judiciary. It first explained that the prison terms that the indeterminately sentenced actually serve are normally a function of the Board's decisions, not the Legislature's. *In re Palmer*, 33 Cal. App. 5th at 1202 (2019). This is because the legislature has delegated its authority to the Board in such cases. *See, e.g., In re Lawrence*, 44 Cal. 4th 1181, 1202 (2008); *In re Morganti*, 204 Cal. App. 4th 904, 916 (2012). The Court of Appeal then concluded that "deference to the legislature" is not the correct framing of the issue when an indeterminately sentenced petitioner challenges his continued incarceration, because the legislature has delegated the relevant function to the Board. *Palmer*, 33 Cal. App. 5th at 1206. All of these statements are correct. The Attorney General construes this as a rejection

of all deference. (OBM at 20.) Not so. Rather, the Court of Appeal stated that any punishment—whether the product of the legislature or the Board—is subject to constitutional limits enforced by the courts. This too is correct.

In arguing that the Court of Appeal failed to properly defer to the legislature, the Attorney General cites, but fails to appreciate, *In re Lynch*. (OBM at 21, citing *Lynch*, 8 Cal. 3d at 424.) *Lynch* instructs a court to find a punishment constitutionally excessive if it "shocks the conscience and offends fundamental notions of human dignity." 8 Cal. 3d at 424. Thus, while the Attorney General argues that a court cannot find Mr. Palmer's sentence unconstitutional without infringing on legislative authority, the Attorney General also offers the very standard the California Supreme Court has fashioned for judicial review of this *exact* sort—the same standard the Court of Appeal applied. *Lynch* confirms that when a court reviews a legislatively prescribed indeterminate punishment for constitutional excessiveness, it acts within its proper judicial function—and has established a standard for doing so. *See id*.

In addition to serving as a check on the legislature, the judiciary serves another critical role: protecting individual rights. *See Rodriguez*, 14 Cal. 3d at 650 (right to challenge punishment is particularly important for indeterminate sentences). The Attorney General's theory threatens to erase this protection. The Attorney General contends that his theory "does not mean, of course, that a life-term inmate is prohibited from challenging his life-maximum sentence as constitutionally excessive years into his sentence under state law." (OBM at 21.) But it means exactly that. If this Court were to determine that courts overstep their judicial authority when they find facially permissible punishments unconstitutional as applied to particular individuals, indeterminately incarcerated individuals serving legislatively prescribed sentences could not challenge their punishments

without courts violating the separation of powers doctrine. In other words, they could not challenge their punishments at all.

This Court should affirm the Court of Appeal's grant of habeas relief as a proper exercise of its judicial power.

II. THE PROPER REMEDY IS TO ORDER AN END TO ALL EXCESSIVE PUNISHMENT, INCLUDING PAROLE

The Attorney General concedes that parole is continued punishment for Mr. Palmer's offense. (*See* OBM at 40 ("both parole and incarceration are punishment for the conviction").) The parties disagree whether Mr. Palmer can continue to be punished beyond constitutional limits. The Attorney General insists that he can, relying on the statutory basis for parole—Penal Code section 3000 *et seq.*—and the separation of powers doctrine. Mr. Palmer disagrees, relying on his right to be free from excessive punishment and the courts' inherent power to remedy constitutional violations. Because no statute can trump Mr. Palmer's constitutional rights, this Court can and must craft a remedy that ends all ongoing, excessive punishment, including parole.

A. The Petition Is Not Mooted by Release on Parole

Because a parolee is still in custody, though constructive and not actual, a petition for a writ of habeas corpus is not automatically mooted by the paroling of the petitioner. *In re Sturm*, 11 Cal. 3d 258, 265 (1974) (habeas corpus petition not rendered moot by the petitioner's release on parole while his petition was pending because parolee is in constructive custody); *Wells*, 46 Cal. App. 3d at 593 (same); Penal Code § 3056(a) (parolee under supervision of CDCR). More generally, a writ, like an appeal, is mooted only "if events have made any effective relief impracticable or impossible." *See, e.g., Ogunsalu v. Superior Court*, 12 Cal. App. 5th 107, 111 (2017) (quoting *Lockaway Storage v. Cty. of Alameda*, 216 Cal. App. 4th 161, 174-75 (2013)); *cf. Union of Med.*

Marijuana Patients, Inc. v. City of San Diego, 7 Cal. 5th 1171, 1190 n.7 (2019) (appeal not moot where effective relief can still be granted); In re Bye, 12 Cal. 3d 96, 100 n.2 (1974) (challenge to denial of outpatient status not moot after outpatient status restored because it remained subject to revocation).

The Attorney General's mootness argument (*see* OBM at 48 ("the court should have denied the petition as moot")) is contrary to well-established precedent and the doctrine's scope. The Attorney General cites *Frias v. Superior Court* and *National Ass'n of Wine Bottlers v. Paul*, but neither supports him. (*See id.*) In *Frias*, the petitioner sought release from "the maximum segregation area," which had already occurred. *Frias v. Superior Court*, 51 Cal. App. 3d 919, 923 (1975) (petition mooted where "resolution of the question originally presented [was] academic and of no practical effect"). In *Wine Bottlers*, an appeal of an order declaring a marketing order of the Director of Agriculture void was mooted by the termination of the marketing order during the pendency of the appeal. *Nat'l Ass'n of Wine Bottlers v. Paul*, 268 Cal. App. 2d 741, 746 (1969) ("Since the marketing order on which this case is based is no longer in effect, a decision of this court obviously cannot affect it.").

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